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MARTIN SHKRELI and (T 15 U.S.C., §§ 78j(b) and 781f;

T.18,U.S.C., §§ 371, 981(2)(1)(C),

EVAN GREEBEL, 1349, 2 and 3551 et seq.; T. 21, U.S.C.,.
Defondants. § 853(p); T. 28, U.S.C. §2461(e,)2 =
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: o
INTRODUCTION it
L5

At all times relevant to this Inchctment unless other\mse indicated:

L The Defendants and Relevant Entities

1. The defendant MARTIN SHKRELI was aresident of Brooklyn, New
_Ydrk and New York, Néw York. From approﬁmately 2006 to 2007, SHKRELI served as the
managing niémber and portfolio manager of Ele;a Capital Management (“Elea Capital”j, a hedge
fund located in New York, New York. From approximately September 2009 to Decembér 2012,
"SHKRELI served as vthe managing member and portfolio manager of MSMB Capital
Management LP (“MSMB Capital”), a hedge ﬁnd locafced in New Y oﬂ(, New York, that focused
its investments in the healthcare sector. From approximately February 201 1 to Decembér 2012,
_SHKRELI served as the managing member and portfolio ﬁlanager for MSMB Healthcare LP
| (“MSMB Healthcare”), a hedge fund located in New York, New York, that focused its
_ iﬁvestments in the healthcare sector. From approximateiy December 2012 to Septembér 2014,

SHKRELI was the Chief Executive Officer of Refrophin, Inc. (“Retrophin” or “RTRX”), a



publicly traded biopharmaceutical company with its principal place of business in New York,
l\Iew York |

2. The defendant EVAN GREEBEL was a resident of Scersdale,-NeiV York,
and én attori“iey licensed to practice law in New- York. From approximately December 2012 to
September 2014, GREEBEL was a partner in the New Yerk office of Katten Muchin Rosenman
LLP and served as lead outside counsel to Retrophin |

3. MSMB Capital was a Delaware limited partnership founded by the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELI and Co- Conspirat01 l an md1V1dua1 whose identity is lcnown to
the Grand Jury, in or about September 2009. The securities offered to investors by MSMB
ACapital were limited partner interests, and investors in the fund became limited partners (tbe
“Capltal Limited Partneis”) The sole general partner of MSMB Capital was MSMB Investors .
LLC a Delaware limited liabihty company, Whlch was controlled by SHKRELIL MSMB Capital
Management LLC a Delaware limited liability company controlled by SHKRELI served as tbe
investment adviser to MSMB Capltal

- 4. MSMB Healthcare was a Delaware limited partnership founded by the

defendant MARTIN SHKRELI in or about Februaty 2011. The securities offered to mvestors by
'MSMB Healthca:ce were limited parmei mterests, and investors in the fund became limited .
partners (the “Healthcare Limited Pariners”). .The sole general partner of MSMB Healthcare was
MSMB Healthcare Investors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which was controlled
by SHKRELL MSMB Healthcare Management LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
icrontrolled by SHKRELIL served as the investment adviser to MSMB Healthegre.

5. . Retrophin LLC (“Retrophin LLC”) was a Delaware limited liability

company founded by the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI in or about March 2011. At its
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inception, Retrophin LLC focused on finding a cure for children who spfferéd from muscular
dystrpphy.

| 6. Retrophin was a Delaware corporation founded by the defendant
MARTIN SHKRELI in or about 2011.. In or about December 2012, Retrophin became a
publicly traded company that traded under the ticker symbol RTRX on the Over-the-Counter
(OTC) markets. In or about January 2014, Retrophin began trading on the NASDAQ Global
Market under the ticker syinbol RTRX. Retrophin was a biopharmaceﬂﬁcal company focused on
the discovery, acquisition, development énd commercialization of drugs for the treatment of
debilitating and life-threatening aiseases for which there are currently limited patient options.

1L The Fraudulent Schemes

7.  Inorabout and between September 2009 and September 2014, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, together with the defendant EVAN GREEBEL and others,
orchestrated three interrelated frau&ulent scheﬁes:

' a. a scheme to defraud in?estors and potential investors in MSMB -

Capital by inducing them to invest in MSMB Capital through material misrepresentations and

omissions about, inter alia, ﬂle prior performance of the fund, its assets ﬁnde-r managément and
the retaining of an independent auditor and administrator; and tﬁen by preventing redempti_oﬁs by
inveétors in MSMB Capital through material ﬁﬁsrepresentatipns and omissions about, inter alia,
the performance of the fund énd the misappioﬁﬁation by SHKRELI and éﬂlers of fund assets;

b. a scheme to défraud investors and potential investors in MSMB
Healthcare by inducihg them to invest m MSMB Hezilthcare through material misrepresentat'ions
and pmissioné abou’;, i];ter alia, the prior performance of the fund, its assets under management

and existing liabilities; and then by preventing redemptions by the investors through material



misrepresentations and omissions about, inter alia, the performance 5f the fund and the
mlsappropnatmn by SHKRELI and others of fund assets; and

c. a scheme to defraud Retrophm by mlsappropnatmg Retrophin’s
assets through material misrepresentations and omissions in an effort to satisfy SHKRELI’s
pérsohal and unrelated professional debts ;md obligations. Specifically, SHKRELIL, assisted by
GREEBEL and others, defrauded Re_trbphjn by causing it to: (1) transfér Retrophin shares to;'
| MSMB Capital even though MSMB Capital never invested in Retrophin; (ii) enter into
settlement agreements with -defrguded MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare investors to settle
liabilities éwed by the MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare funds (’&he “MSMB Funds™) and
SHKRELI; and (iii) enter into shém consuiﬁng-agreements with other defrauded MSMB Capital,
- MSMB ﬁealthcare and Elea Capital investors as ali alternative means to settle liabilities owed by

the MSMB Funds and SHKRELL

A. The MSMB Capital Hedge Fund Scheme
3. In or about and between .Sepfember 2009 and December 2010, the

" defendant MARTIN SHKRELIL to gether with Co-Conspirator 1, in an effort té induce
.mvestments in MSMB Capltal represented to potential mvestors inter alia, that (1) MSMB
Capital was a transparent investment vehicle for sophlstlcated investors with monthly liquidity;
(ii) the investment adviser was entitled to receive a one percent management fee per year basgd
on net assets of the partnership; (iii) the general partner was entitled to receive twenty percent of

the limited paﬁners’ net profits for the year; and (iv) MSMB Capital had retained independent
certified public accountants as auditors who \A’QUId issue an audit report on the annual financial
 statements. Based '011' these representations and additional representations about SHKRELI’s

success as a portfolio manager and personal investment in the fund, from approximately



Septemb;ar 2009 through November 2010, SHKRELI, together with Co—Conspirétor 1, induced
‘in;festmenté of approximately $700,000 from a total of four Capital Limited Partners. In fact,
MSMB Capital did not retain an m&ependellt auditor, was -ﬁot transparent and did not Have the .
neéessary monthly liquidity to satisfy large redemption requests. Additionaﬂjz, SHKRELI failed
to disclose to the Capital Limited Partners that he ﬁad lost all the money he managed in Elea
Capital, his prior hedge fund, and that there was a $2.3 million defaul;c judgment against him
from Lehman Brothers resulting from his trading activity.

9. In apbroxinlately December 201 0, and January 2011, the defendant
MARTIN SHKRELL together with others, cohtinued to induce investments in MSMB Capital
based on material mistepresentations and omissions. On or about December 2, 2010, investor 1,
a Capital Limited Partner whose identity is known to the Grand Jury and whom SHKRELI had _
been encolraging to invest in MSMB Capital since early 2010, asked SHKRELI in an email

about, inter alia, the fund’s assets under management and the names of its independent auditor .

~ and fund administrator. SHKRELI told Investor 1 that MSMB Capital had $35 million in asseéts
under management and that the fund’s independent auditor and administrator were Rothstein;
Kass & Compahy, P.C. (“Rothstein Kass™) and NAV Consulting Inc. (“NAV Co}nsulting”), |
respectively. At the time of this representation, MSMB Cai)ital did not have an inde_;pendent
auditor or administrator, %md SHKRELI had lost through trading the appro_ximafely $700,000 that
- had been invested by thé four Capital Limited }:Dartners. In fact, as of November.BO, 2010, the
value of assets in MSMB Capital’s bank and brokerage accounté totaled approximately $700.

10, Inreliance on the defendant MARTIN SHKRELT’s material

misrepresentations and omissions, on or about December 8, 2010, Investor 1 sent $1,000,000 by

wire transfer to MSMB Capital’s brokerage account. Approximately one month later, on or '



about January 5, 2011, Investor 1 sent $250,000 by wire transfer to MSMB Capital’s brokerage
account. In approm'matély January 2011, three additional individuals invested approximately
$1,000,000 in MSMB Capital based on SHKRELT's material misrepresentations and omissiions. ’
In sum, eight investors, Whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, invested étotal of
approximately $3 million in MSMB Capital.
11. On or about Feb;uary.l, 201_1, the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI took a

| large short sale position in Orexigen Therapegtics, Tnc. (“OREX”) in MSMB Capital’s brokerage
account a{ Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated (“Merrill Lynch”). Specifically,
SHKRELI sold short over 32 million shareé of OREX. Contrary to SHKRELI’s representations
to Merrill Lynch, MSMB Capital had failed to locate OREX shares ‘to‘bon‘ovvv in-order to settle
MSMB Capital’s short sales. As aresult, MSMB Capital failed to settle a short position of over.
11 million shares éf OREX, which Merrill L};nch,ultirﬁately- closed at a loss of over $7 million.
In éddition to the losses in thé Merrill Lynch,a'.ccount, MSMB Capital sﬁffered over $1 million in
other trading 1osses in approximétely February 2011. Based on these trading losses, the value of
assets in MSMB Capital’s bank and brokerage accounts, not including the OREX losses at
Merrill Lynch, declined from more tharl $1.12 million on or - about January 31, 2011 to $58 500
at the end of February 2011. MSMB Capital did not engage in any trading after February 201 ] .

12. + In furtherance of the scﬁglne of defraud, the deféndant MARTIN

SHKRELI concealed MSMB Capital’s true performance from th«; Capital Limited Partners. For
months following the complete loss of the investments in MSMB Capital and the end of trading |
activity, SHKRELI continued to sen& fabricated performance updates to the Capi’gal Limited
Partners that touted profits of as high aé forty percent since inception. For example, on or about

April 10,2011, SHKRELI seit an email to Investor 2, a Capital Limited Partner whose identity



1s Aknown to the Grénd Jury, informing him that MSMB Capital had retumed a profit of 8.93
percent since the beginning of the year and a profit of 42.57 percent since inoeptionA on
November 1, 2009. SHKREI;I also informed Investor 2, who had first invested in MSMB
Capital on or about November 1, 2069, that his total investment of $400,000 was now
approximately $509,514. Similarly, on or about Jaﬁuary 25, 2012, almost one year after MSMB
| Capital had ceased trading and lost all its asseté, SHKRELI informed Investor 1 that his total
investment of $1,250,000 was now “approximately $1,318,872, net of fees.”
| 13? 7 The defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, togeﬂler with Co-Conspirator 1, also
nﬁsapﬁropriated funds from MSMB Capital by withdrawing funds from MSMB Capital that
were far in.excess of the one percent management fee and the twenty percent net profit incentive
allbcaﬁon permitted by the partnership agreement. Specifically, without the Capital Limited
Partners’ kﬁowledge or consgnt, SHKRELI Wiﬂldl‘@W and spent more than $200;000 from
MSMB Capital during the life of the fund, which was far in excess of any permitted fees.
} 14.  On or about September 5, 2012, the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, Co-
Conspirator 1 and MSMB Capital entered into a settlement agreement with Merrill Lynch to
resolve a Financial Industry Regllétory Author.i-ty, Inc. (“FINRA;’) arbitration proceeding in
connection with the OREX tr:ading losses of approximately $7 million. Pursuantto the
settlement with Merrill Lynch, SHKRELI, Co-Conspiratforl and MSMB Capital agreed to pay
' Merrill Lynch a total of $1,350,000 on or befo;e December 15, 2012. Notably, in the .settlement
agreement, SI—]KREH and Co-Conspirator 1 admitted that.MSMB Capital had $0 in assets.
15.  On or about September 10, 2012, a mere five days after the de%endant k
MARTIN SHKRELI and Co-Conspirator 1 admitted that MSMB Capital h‘ad no assets,

SHKRELI sent an email (the “Liquidation Email”) to the Capij:al Limited Partners, including



In.ves-tor 2, and stated, in part: “I have decided to wind down our hedge fund partnerships with a
goal of completing the ﬁquidation of the funds by November or Décember 1st, 2012. . .
Original MSMB investors (2009) have just about doubled their money net of fees. . . . investors
will have their limited partnership interests redeémed by the fund for cash. Alternatively,
investors may ask for a redemption of Retrophin shares, or a combination of Retrophin shares
and cash.” Contrary to SHKRELI’s repreéentatibns: (i) the MSMB Capital investors who
invested in 2009 had lost their investments, not “doubled their money nei of fees™; and (i1)
SHKRELI had not yet fulfilled a redemption request by Investor 1, who had made tﬁe request in
or about November 201 1.

B. The MSMB Healthcare Hedge Fund Scheme -

16.  Following the collapse of MSMB Capital after ﬂie failed OREX trade,
from approximately FeBruary 2011 to Nbvember 2_012,'the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI,
tégether with others, solicited investments in MSMB Heélthcare from potential invesfors based.
on material misrepreseritations and romis'sions about, inter alia, SHKRELI’S past performance as
a poﬁfo]io ménager. Specifically, SHKRELI and his co-conspirators concealed from p;)tential
A investors SHKRELI’s disastrous past performance as a‘porffolio managejf for MSMB Capital and
Elea Capital and the $7 million liability that SHKRELI owed Merrill Lynch for the February
2‘011 OREX trades. For examplé, on or about April 7, 2011, Investpr 3;, a Heaithcare Limited
Partnerlwhose idéntity is known to thé Grand Jury, invested $1,000,000 in MSMB Healthcare
following .telephone conversations and meetings with SHKRELI and Corrupt Employee 1, an
. individual employed by SHKRELI whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, during which ‘
Investor 3 was provided with only positive information about SHKRELI, was never informed of

SHKRELI’s performance with MSMB Capital and Elea Capital and was never informed about



SHKRELI’s Habﬂity to Merrill Lynch. In sum, thirteen individuals invegted a total of
approximafely $5 million in MSMB Healthcare.

17. » In furtherance of the scheme to defraud, the defeﬁdant MARTIN
SHKRELI made material misrepresentations to potential investors about MSMB Healthcare’s
assets under management. For example, on or about April 18, 2012, in response to an inquiry by
" a potential investor, SHKRELI informed Corrup;c Employee 1 to t_éll the potential investor that
MSMB Healthcare had $55 million in assets under management. At no point, from inception to |
liquidation, did tile total amount of mvestments iﬁ MSMB Healthcare exceed $6 million.

18. " The defendant MARTIN SHKREH also made material misrepresentations
to the Healthcare Limited Partners in an effort to prevent them from seeking redemption of their
investments in MSMB Healthcare. In fact, on or about September 10, 2012, SHKRELIL alsé seﬁt
the Liquidation Email to the Healthcare Limited Partners, including Investor 3. Contfrary to
SHKRELI’s representations: (i) the original MSMB Capital investors who invested in 2009 had
lost their investments, not “doubled their money net of fees”; and (i) MSMB Healthcare did not
have the necessary funds to havé its limited partners redeem their investments for cash.v

-i 19. The‘ defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, together with others, also
» misapproplltiéted funds from MSMB Healthcare by withdrawing funds from MSMB Healthcare
that were far in excess of the oné percent management fee permitted by the partnership |
agreement and the twenty percent net profit incentive allocation afforded to the gen'eral. partner
of the fund. Additionally, Wit_hout the Healthcare Limited Partners’ knowledge or consent,
SHKRELI improperly used MSMB Heal‘thcare‘ assets to pay for obligations that ﬁf&e not the

responsibility of MSMB Healthcare. For example, SHKRELI caused assets from MSMB



Healthcare to be used to péiy money owéd by MSMB Capital, SHKRELI and Co-Conspirator 1
to settle ciaims brought by Merrill Lynch in connection with the failed OREX trades.

20.  To achieve this fraudulent objective, in or about November 2012, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELI improperly reclassified a $900,'OOO equity investment by MSMB
Healthcare in Retrophin LLC as an interest-bg:aring,loan through the use of a backdated
promissory note, thereby causing 22,500 Retrophin.LLC: shares that had been issued to MSMB
Healthcare at the time éf the equity investment {o be deleted from Retrophin LLC’s
capitalization table. A capitalizatic;n table is a record of all the major shareholders of a company,
along with their pro-rata ownership of all the securities issued by the company (equity shares,
preferred shares ana options), an(i the various prices paid by these stakeholders for these
securities. On or about January 18,2013, SHKRELI caused Retrophin, the publicly traded
company, to transfer $150,000 into MSMB Healthcare’s bank account as pmﬁal payment of the
improperly reclassified loaﬁ, $125,000 of which he wire transferred to Merrill Lynch to get an
extension for a settlemeﬁ payment owed by MSMB Capital, SHKRELI and Co-Conspirator 1.-

| Finélly, on or about March 4, 2012, SHKRELI‘caﬁsed Retrophin to transfer $773,600 mto
MSMB Healthca:re s bank account as the remaining repayment of the “loan,” which amount he

* then wire transferred that same day to Merrill Lynch to sat1sfy the debt owed to Merrill Lynch by
SHKRELI Co- Consplrator 1 and MSMB Capltal pursuant to the OREX trade settlement.

C. The Retrophin Misappropriation Scheme

21.  The defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL together
with others, eﬁgagcd ina scheme to defraud Retrophin by misappropriating Retrophin’s assets
through material mistepresentations and omissions in an effort to satisfy SHKRELI’s persbnal

and unrelated professional debts and obligations. Specifically, SHKRELI, assisted by
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GREEBEL and others, defraude(i Retrophin by. causing it to: (i) transfer Retrophﬁ shares to
MSMB Capital even though MSMB Capital ﬁe&fer invested in Retroplﬁn; (ii) enter into
settlement agreements with defrauded MSMB Capitai and MSMB Healthcare investors to settle
liabilities owed by. the MSI\[BVFunds and SHKRELI; and (iii) enter into sham consulting
agreements with other‘ defrauded MSMB Capital; MSMB Healthcare ar-ld Elea Capital investors

as an alternative means to settle liabilities owed by the MSMB Funds and SHKRELL

(). ' The Fabricated MSMB Capital Intérest _

22 Iﬁ or about March 2011, the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI valued
Retrophin LLC as a $20 million company based on 100,000 éutstmlding shares _and SHKRELI’s
valuation that each share or unit was worth $200, even though Retrophin LLC had no products or
assets. In 2011 and 2012, SHKRELI began using MSMB Healthcare funds to investin -
Retrophin LLC and solicited investments in Retrophin LLC, including additional investments
from Capital Limited Partners and Healthcare Limited Partners who had been misled by
SHKRELI and others that their investments were perfomung exceptionally well. These -
1nvestments were recorded on Retr ophm LLC’s capitalization table.

23.  Asofluly 31,2012, Retrophm LLC’s capitalization table which was
reviewed by the defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, among others, revealed:
that MSMB Healthcare had investeci approximately $2,135,000 in Retrophin LLC. The records
did not reflect anyAinves’mlents by MSMB Capital Similarly, as of September 5, 2012, the
cap1tahzat1on table, which was rev1ewed by SHKRELI and GREEBEL, among others, revealed
approximately $5 million in investments in Retrophm LLC but no mvestments by MSMB
Capital. On or about November 14, 2012, Accounting Firm 1, which was retamed by Retrophin

LLC to review its books and records, was provided an updated capitalization table that revealed

3t



approximately $4.75 million in jnvestmeﬁts in Rétrophin LLC, butno investments by MSMB
~ Capital. | |
24,  In or about November 2012, the defendant MARTIN SHKRELL
responded to mqumes by the United States Secml’ues and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) about
his management of MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare. On or about November 4, 20 12
SHKRELI sent an email to the SEC, in which he stated, in part: “We have decided to end the
MSMB limited partnerslups . limited partners have been notlﬁed of the plans for the
redemptlon of assets.” SHKRELI then grouped the MSMB Funds together and stated that
~ Retrophin LLC was the “most successful a:nd Jargest effort” of the MSMB group of funds, Whlch ;
| included MSMB Capital. Additionally, SHKRELI claimed that MSMB Capital was still active,
'had $2,600,000 in assets pnder management aﬁd was in the proéess of being liquidated.
- Contrary to these representations, MSMB Capital had eésentiaﬂy no assets following the
Febr@y 2011 OREX trades and was in debt to Merrill Lynoh; |
| 25.  Faced with an SEC inquiry, the defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and
EVAN GREEBEL, together with others, engaged in a scheme to fabricaté an investment by
MSMB Capital in. Retrophin LLC and engineered a series of fraudulent tran;acﬁons that were
backdated to the summer of 2012 to create the appearance of an investment by MSMB Capital
prior to the SEC inquiry. Specifically, in orvabou’c November and December 2012, SHKRELI
and GREEBEL orchestrated a transfer of shares to SHKRELI from Co-Conspirator 1, as well as
Corrupt Employee 1 and Corrupt Employee 2, individuals whose ide;ltities are known to the
bGr‘and Jury, and backdated themr to the summer of 2012. SHKRELI then immediately
transferred, also pursuant to a backdated agreement, 75,000 shares to MSMBACapital that he

received from Co-Conspirator 1, Corrupt Employee 1 and Corrupt Employee 2. SHKRELI and



VGREEBEL, together with others, convinced Co-Conspirator 1, Corrupt Employee 1 and Corrupt
Employee 2 to transfer their Retrophin LLC Sharcf?s to SHKRELI by enticing them with the -
opportunity to acquire, for a nominal amoﬁnt, approximately ﬁx;e percent of the unrestricted or
free trading shares of Retrophin, the publicly traded coﬁlpany that SHKRELI was in the process
of creating through a reverse merger. The folldwing series of emails providés a glimpse into the
scheme perpetrated by SHKRELI and GREEBEL:

a. On or about November 20, 2012, GREEBEL i)rdvided RTRX
Employeé 1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, with a template share
transfer agreement that he had previously providéd to SHKRELL

b. On or about November 25, 2012, in response to an inquiry from
SHKRELI about cancelling a transfer of Retroﬁhin shares previously given by SHKRELIL,
GREEBEL 1esponded “hard to unwind stuff — easier if they tr ansfer back.”

& On or about November 29, 2012, at 3:20 p.m., RTRX Employee 1
sent an email to GREEBEL, and Accquntant 1 and Accountam 2, Whose identities are known to
the Grand Jury, and attached an agreemént that transferred 4,167 shares from Co-Conspirator 1
to SIH(RELI. The agreement Wés éigned by SHKRELI and Co-Conspirator 1 and dafed

November 29, 2012. |
d. On or about November 29, 2012, between 3:29 pm and 3:46 p.m.,
SHKRELI, GREEBEL, Co-Conspiratof 1 and RTRX Employee 1 Excﬁanged emails where
SHKRELI_ stated, “ﬁat agl‘eerﬁent was signed in June.” Notably, GREEBEL removed the
outside accountants for this email exchange. -
& A few minutes later, at 3:55 p.m.,vRTRX 'Empioy’ee 1 sent an email

to SHKRELI and GREEBEL, copying Co—Conépirator 1, and attached the same transfer
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agreement, with one change: the November 29,2012 dates below the signature lines for
SHKRELI and Co-Conspirator 1 were covered.’by clearly visible redacting tape and feplaced
with a date of July 1, 2012. | ‘
| | £ Oneminute later, in response to the email seﬁt by RTRX

Employee 1, GREEBEL sent an email to RTRX Employee 1 and stated, “please call me.”

g. Amldst ﬂns emaﬂ exchange, at 4: 04 pm., Accountdnt 1, who had
received the original share transfer agreement from RTRX Employee 1, exclaimed, “WT...F.”

| h. At 4:32 p.m., approximately thirty minutes after GREEBEL asked

RTRX Employee 1 to call him, RTRX Employee 1 sent an email to SHKRELI and GREEBEL,
copying CQ—Consi)irator 1, and attached the _transfer agreement between SHKRELI allld Co- -
Conspirator 1. This version, however, had a new signature page without any visible redacting
tape and a new date June 1, 2012, was typed, rather than handwntten

1. On or about December 9,.2002, RTRX Employee 1 sent
Accountant 1 an email attaching Co-Conspirator 1’s backdated agreement, similar backdated
share transfer agreements executed by Cc}rrﬁpt Employee 1 and Corrupt Employee 2, both dated
July 1,2012, and an ‘agree_ment between SHKRELJ and MSMB Capital, dated July i, 2012,
transferring 75,000 shares from SHKRELI to MSMB Capital. Notably, although each of these
agreements reflects a date in the summer of 2012, none of the transfers in the agreements are
- reflected in the capltahzatmn tables that were prepared in July, September and November 2012.

3 A few hours later, SHKRELI sent an email to GREEBEL and”
RTRX Employee 1 and attached the “ﬁnal_capitaﬁzzition table,” which contained an entry for

MSMB Capital for 75,000 shares.
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(ii).  The Fraudulent Settflement Afzreementé

26.  In or about and between February 2013 and August 2013, the defendants
MARTiN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, together with ethers, caused Retrophin to enter nto
settlement agreements with three Capitall Limited Partners and four Healthcare Limited Partners
to resolve claims and threats of claims made by the limited partners against SHKRELI and
MSMB Capital or MSMB Healthcare. SHKRELI and GREEBEL, who were present at all
relevant Retrophin Board of Directors (the “Boerd”) meetings, did not seek autho}ization from .
the Board prior to entering into these fraudulent settlements

27.  The defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL engaged n
this eoheme to defraud Retrophin of its assets in an effort to conceal the material
misrepresentations tnat SHKRELI nlade to the three Capital Lnnited Partners and four
Healtheare Limited Partners abou; inter alia, performance and liquidity. For example, on or
about September 10,2012, SHKRELI had falsely represented to the three Capnal Limited-
* Partners, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, that their investments had returned
profits ranging from 41.12 percent to 79.49 percent. Similarly, on or about September 9, 2012,
SHKRELI had falsely represented to the four Healthcare Limited Partners that their investments

had returned profits ranging-fronl 15.58 pereent to 34.48 percent. The next day; in the

Liquidation Email, SHKRELI had informed the limited partners of MSMB Capital and MSMB
Healthcare that he was winding down the funds and that they could have their mtereSLs redeemed
by the fund for cash. Contrary to these 1epresentat10ns MSMB Capital had ceased operating in
February 2011 and all investments by the Capital Limited Partners nad been lost following the

February 2011 OREX trades. Similarly, SHKRELTI’s performance updates to the Healthcare
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_ Limited Partners were false because they were based on an internal, inflated valuation of
Retrophin, and MSMB Heaithcai‘e did. not have liquid assets to fulfill cash redemptions.

28.  Insum, the defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL,
together with others, caused Retrophin to pay more than $3.4 million in c-ashn and RTRX stock to
settle claims with the se‘-Jen Capital Limited Partners and Healthcare Limited Partners even
though Retrophin was not responsible for thosé claiﬁls.

29. Imor about‘ Augugt 2013, Retrophin’s external auditor questioned the

. setflement agreements that had been as of that time and determined ﬂlatRetropiﬁn was not
respc;nsible for the claims resolved in ﬂ')c settlement agreeinents. Consequently, Retrophin’s
public ﬁlings had to be restated and.amended. On or about August 23, 2013, the defendénts
MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL discusse(i the impéct'of the auditor’s determination
_ in a lengthy email exkchange.‘ When SHKRELI suggested that the old agreements should be
“annulled, GREEBEL responded that the auditor “didn’t like ‘Lh_at idea.”A When SHKRELI then
admitted that “there were seri01.15 faults with the [settlement] agreements including lack of board
'approvai” and that redoing the settlement agreements may be a good idea, GREEBEL responded:
“That will open up some Véi'y big issues. The current thinking is let rtrx pay, rget anote ﬁom the
fund[,] and if the fund cant [sic] fulfill the note[,] rtrx will write it off as abad debt. ‘If[ would be
easier than the road you are referring to. bAlso, [the Aauditor] Woulci get very spooked with what
you are talking about (which coﬁld also spook your investors and counter bal'ties).” In response,
‘SHKRELI stated, “[o]n current thinking: that works for me.”
30. A few days later, the defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN
. GREEBEL caused MSMB Capital and MSMB Héalthcare to éxecute indemnification

" agreements and promissory notes for the benefit of Retrophin even though they knew that the
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MSMB Funds had no assets. In furtherance of the scheme, SHKRELI and GREEBEL assured- :
Retrophin and the auditors that the ‘i)romissory notes would be repaid. Retrophin was never

indemnified for these fraudulent settlement agreements. A

(iii). The Sham Consulting Agreements
| 31. . After Retrbphjn’s' external auditors had detgrmined that Retrophin was not

requnsible 'for the claims settled in the settlement agreements, ’;he dei:endants MART]N
SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, together with others, devi:sed an alternative approach to settle
with defrauded limited partners from SHKRELI’s hedge funds: settlement agreements under.the
guise of consultmg agreemems SHKRELI and GREEBEL’s fraudulent scheme is evident in an
emaul exchange on or about Octobe1 16 2013. Initially, GREEBEL sent an emall to SHKRELI
informing him that Investor 1 wanted 100,000 RTRX shares as part of his settlement and did not
want to eﬁter into a consulting agreemeﬁt. When SHKRELI indicated that the proposal was
acceptable to him, GREEBEL stated, “Where will the 100k come from? Ifit’s from the
compan& it would need to be m a consulting agreement.” | SHKRELI questioned GREEBEL’s
approach and stated, “%y would it need to beva consulting agreement???! Have you heara of
the term settlement?” In response, GREEBEL explained, “We can call ita settlement'agreement,
but given [the auditor’s] recent behayior they may require it to be disclosed in the ﬁnaﬁcials. I
was trying to prevent that issue.”

32.  Tnor about and between September 2013 and March 2014, the defendants
MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, together with others, c;auséd Retrophin to enter into
four sham consulting agreemehts with defrauded investors from Elea Capital, MSMB Capital
and MSMB Healthéare to resolve claims and threats of claims By those investors against

SHKRELI and the MSMB Funds. Three of the four sham consulting agreemén’ts, which
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inchuded agreements with Investor 1 and Investor 3, provided that the defrauded investors would
provide consultmg services “on strategic and corporate governance matters to the management of

the company” and contained releases as 1o, mter aha SHKRELI the MSMB Funds and

Retrophin. The fourth sham consulting agreement, which was entered into with the defrauded '
Elea Cai)ital investor, provided that the investor would provide consulting Ser_vicves “on cluster
headache drug development and other matters to the Company” but did not include any reieases.
Retrophin did not receive any legitimate consulting services based on these sham agreements.
33.  The defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, who were
present at all relevant Board meetings, never prese_lted three of the four sham consulting
agreements to the Board for approval and althouch the consulting agreement with Tnvestor 3
was placed on the Board’s agenda, it was never approved. Additionally, SHKRELI and
. GREEBEL concealed fr;)m the Board that thé_ purpose of tlla;t consulting agreement was to
resolve Investor 3’s ‘complaints about his MSMB Healtﬁcare investment. As another example of
the scheme to conceal the true nature of the sham consulting aoreements on or about Apnl 19
2013, GREEBEL sent an email to SHKRELI attac,hmg a form consulting agreement to use to
- settle claims with Investor 3, and stated, in part: “T thmk you should get blanket approval from
the board for you to retain consultants who may be paid in cash or stocl-( up to an aggregate
‘am'ount of .7 - |
34, Aswith the settlement agreements, the defendants MARTIN SHKRELI
and EVAN GREEBEL, together with others, devised the sham consultmg avreements to conceal
- the material misrepresentations that SHKRELI inade to the Cap1ta1 Limited Partners and
Healthcare Limited Partners about, inter alia, performance and liquidity. For example, on or

about January 25, 2012, in the last -perfofmance update provided to Investor 1, SHKRELI falsely
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represented to investor. 1 thét his investment had returned a profit of 5.51 percent. Similarly, on
or about September 9, 2012, SHKRELI falsely represeﬁted to Investor 3 and another Healthcare
Timited Partner that their investments had returned profits of 34.48 pércenf and 9.75 percent,
respectively. The next day, in the Liquidation: Email, SHKRELI informed the limited partners of
MSMB ‘Capital and MSMB Healthcare that he was Winding down the funds and that they could
‘have their interests redeemed by the fund for cash. Contrary to these representations, MSMB
Capital had been defunct since February 2011 and all investments by the Capital Limited
Partners had been lost following the February 2011 OREX trades. Similarly, SHKRELI’s |
performance updates to the Healthcare Limited Partners were false because they were based on
an i_nterﬁal, inflated valuation of Retrophin, and MSMB Healthcare did not have liquid assets to
fulfill cash redemptions. a |

35. In sum,‘the defendants MARTD\T‘SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL,
together with others, caused Retrophin to pay more than $7.6 million in cash and RTRX sﬁock
tthrough sham consulting agreements to settle claims with Capital Limited Partners and
Healﬂlcaie L'Lmifced Partners even though Retrophin was not responsible for ﬂlose claims.

COUNT ONE
~ (Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud — MSMB Capital Scheme)

36.  The allegations cont_ained in paragraphs one through thirty-five ‘are
realleged and incorporated as tﬂough fully set forth in this paragraph.
" 37.  Inorabout and between September 2009 and Septémber 2014, both dates V
being approximaté and inclusive, within the Ezistém District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELL together with (_)thers, did knowingly and willfully conspire to

use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, contrary to Rule 10b-5 of
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the Rules and Regulations of the United States Securities and Exchanée Commission, Title 17,
Code of Federal Régulations, Section 240.1bb-5, by: (2) employing devices, schemes and
artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material fact and omitting to state material
facts necessary in ofder to make the statements méde, in light of the circumstances under which
* they were made, not mlsleadmg, and (¢) engaging in acts, practlces and courses of business
which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon investors and potentlal mvestors in
MSMB Capital, in connection with the purchase and sale of investments in MSMB Capital,
directly and indirectly, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the
mails, contrary to Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j (b) and 78£f.
38, In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its obj ects, within the
Eastern District éfNe\V York and elsewhere, the defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, together with
others, committed and caused to be committed, améng others, the following:
OVERT ACTS

a. On or about October 24, 2009, Co-Conspirator 1 sent an émail to
Tnvestor 2, a Capital Limited Partner whose identity is knqwn to the Grand Jury, copying
SHKRELI énd enclosing the “MSMB Capital Iﬁvestoi Kit,” which included a presentation and a
private placement memorandum. |

b.  Onor about February 18, 2010, SHKRELI sent an email to the_
Capital Limited Partners, :mcluding Investor 2, gnd stated, in part: “Our fun& is open to new and
+additional investﬁmnts. Our terms are 1%/20% fees with monthly liquidity.”'

c. On or about June 9, 2010, SHKRELI seht an email to Investor 1, a
Capital Limited Partner whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, attachmg MSMB Capltal

documents, and stated in part: “The fund is a 1/20 fee s’uucture with no lock-ups. . . . we have a



daily results email some ;;eople like to see . . .'hedge fund performance should be easy enough to -
report/calculate estimates on a daily basis, and itis. ... ’d love to have you as an investér —it
looks like we see eye—to—éye ona number of topics.” _ '
. d. On or about October 6, 2010, SHKRELI sent an email to the '

Capital Limited Partners, including Investor 2, and attached a letter entitled “M.SMB éapital
Management Limited Partnership Letter for Qé 2010.” In the letter, SHKRELI Stated,.in patt,
that the “partnership performed well, returning 9% m Q3 20.1 0” and that brought the “gross year-
. to-date retm;n to 44%.” |

e. On or about Dec¢1nber 2, 2010, SﬁKRELI sent an email to
Investor 1, al-ld stated, in part, that MSMB Capital’s current assets under management were $35
million, its auditor was Rothstein Kass, and its administrator was NAV Consulting.

| | f. On or about J anﬁary 3,2011, SHKRELI sent an email to the

" Capital Limited Partners, including Inveétor 2, and sfate_d that MSMB Capital had “returned
+30.44% in 2010 and “+30.97% since inception on 11/ 1/2009.”

g. * On or about Febrﬁary 2,20 1'1, SHKRELI sent an eméil to .Co— .
Conspirator 1 and an employee and attached a spreadsheet detailing MSMB Capital’s OREX |
trading. |

| h. . On c;r' about February 9, 2011, SHKRELI sent an email to the

Capital Limited Partners, including Im;esto'r 1 and Tnvestor 2, and stated that MSMB Capital had
“returned +3.80% gross.of fees year-to-date” and “+35.95% since inception on 1Y 1/2009.”

L On or about Novémber 17,2011, Iﬁvestor 1 sent a letter to
SHKRELI providing wiitten notice of a request for a full withdrawal of his investment in MSMB

* Capital based on the fund’s net asset value as of November 30, 2011.
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1 On or abou’; January 25, 2012, SHKRELI sent an email to Investor
1, éopying otheré, and statfsd, in part: “You invested $1,250,000 for the 12/31/2010 pgriod. The
value of this investment is now approximately ‘$1,3‘1 8,872, net of fees . . . We acknowledge your
redemption and this will be your last statement.”

k. On of about September 10, 2012, SHKRELI sent an email to the
Capital Limited Partners, inchlding Investor 2, and stated, in part: “T have decided to wind down
our hedge fund pértne-rslﬁps with a goal of completing the liquidation of the funds By November
or December 1st, 2012. . .. Original MSMB investors (2009) have just about doubled their
money net of fees. . .. in';festors will have their limited partnership interests redeemed by the
fund for cash. Alternatively, investors may ask for a redemption of Retrdphin shares, or a -
combination of Retrophin shares and cash.”

(Tlﬂe 18 United States Code, Sectlons 371 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWO
(Consplracy to Commit Wire Fraud — MSMB Capital Scheme)

39,  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through thirty-five are
realleged and incorporated as though fully set forthi in this ‘paragraph.

- 40. Iﬁ or about and between September 2009 and September 2014, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District éf New York and elsewhere, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELL together with others; did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud investors and potential investors in MSMB Capital,
and to ébtam money and property from them by means of mater ially false and fraudulent
pretenses, representations and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and

artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate
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and foreign commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et seq.)

,  COUNT THREE
S ecurities Fraud — MSMB Capital Scheme)

41.  The allegations contained in paragraphs'one through thirtyf;ﬁve are
realleged and incorporated as though fuliy set forth in this paragraph.

42.  Inor about and between September 2009 and September 2014, both dates
being apﬁroximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELIL together Wifh others, did knowingly and willfully use and
employ one or more manipulative and deceptive devices and éontrivances, contrary to Rule 10b-
5 of the Rules and Regulations of the United Sfates Securities and Exchange Commission, Title
17, Code of Federal Regulationé, Section 240.10b-5, by: (a) employing one or more de_vices,
schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making one or more unirue statements of maferial fact and ‘
O}ni‘-r'tingv to statevone ér more material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
* light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaghlg in one or
more acts, practices and courses of business which would and did operate as 2 fraud and deceit
upon one or more investors or potential investors in MSMB Capital, in connection with the
purchase and sale éf investments in MSMB Capital, directly and indirectly, by use of meaﬁs and v
instrumentalities of hl;terstate commerce and the mails. .

(Title 15, Un'ited. States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT FOUR
(Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud — MSMB Healthcare Scheme)

43.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through thj_t;ty-ﬁve are
realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth in this paragfaph.

44.  TInorabout apd between February 2011 and Septerﬁbér 2014, both dates
being app?éximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendant MART]N SHKRELI, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to
use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and confrivances, contrary o Rule 10b-5 of
the Ritles and Regulations of the United States vSecurit'ies and Exchange Commission, Title 17,
Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.1Gb-5, by: (a) employiﬁg devices, schemes and

“artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material fact and omitting to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; and (©) engagmg in acts, practices and courses of busmess
which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon investors and pbtegtial investors in
MSMB Healﬂlcafe, in connection with the purchase and sale of investments in MSMB
Healthcare, directly and indirectly, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce
and the mails, confrary to Title 15, United States Code, Seot.ions 78j(b) and 78ff.

45. - ; In furtherance éf t_h-e conspiraoy and to effect its objects, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewh’ere; the defendant MARTIN SHKRELL, together with
others, cor-nmitted and caused to be committed,- among others, the following:

OVERT ACTS |
a. On or about December 16, 2011, SHKRELI sent an email to

Corrupt E],ﬁployce 1, an individual employed by SHKRELI Whosevidentity is known to the
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Grand Jury, and stated that MSMB Healthcare had $45 million in assets under management, and
$80 million in assets under management if the full value of Retrophin was taken into account.

b. On or about J anuary 24, 2012, in response to an email from.
Investor 3, a Healthcare Limited_ Partner .wh.ose' identity is kno@ to the Grand Jury, Who had
expressed concerned about MSI\/IB Healthcare’s performance, SHKRELI stéted: “The real loss is
-2% and 2% Wlll be added to Decembér — we negotiated hard with accountants to represent -2%
but time constraints resulted in us printing -4%.”

. C. On or aboutv April 18,2012, SHKRELI sent an: emaﬂ to Corrupt
Employee 1, and stated that MSMB Healthcare had $55 inﬂlioﬁ in assets under management.

d. . Onorabout April 19, 2012, in response to an inquiry by a potential
sophisticated investor about how MSMB Healﬂicare could pay employee salaries with a modest
~ asset base of $55 million, SHKRELI stated: “Lots of ways — many of us have zero salaries or

low salaries. We have 'some expenses the fund pays for and yet other deferments that are
creative. Will tell more when we meeﬁ 7
| e. | Onor ab_oui Septembér 10,2012, SHKRELI sent an email to the

-Healthcare Limited Partneré, including iqvestor 3, and stated, in part:f‘I have decided to vﬁnd .
down our hedge fund partnerships with a goal of completing the liquidation of the funds by
November or December l-sf, 2012.... . Original MSMB investors (2009) ilave just about doubled
their money net of fees. . . . investors will have their limited partnership interests redeemed by
the fund for cash. Alternatively, investors may ask for a redemptioﬁ of Retrophin shares, or a
combination of Retrophin shares and cash.” |

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3551 et seq.)



_ COUNT FIVE
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud — MSMB Healthcare Scheme)

46.  The allegations contained in ;;aragraphs one through thirty-five are
realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth in ﬂﬁs paragi‘aph.

47.  In or about and between February 2011 and September 2014, both dates
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eéstem District of New York and elsexvhére, the
defendant MARTIN SHKREL_I, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to deﬁse a scheme and artifice to defraud investors and potential investors in MSMB Health_carc,
and to obtain money and proiaerty from them by means of materially false a}1d fraﬁdulent
pretense;s, representations and promises, "and for the purpoée of executing such schemé and
artifice, to transmit and cause to be traﬁsmitted by means of wite communication in interstate
: and foreign comﬁerce writings, signs,-, signais, pictures and sounds, contrary fo Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343. |

i (Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT SIX _
(Securities Fraud — MSMB Healthcare Scheme)

43.  The allegations contained in paragraphs one through thirty-five are
realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth in this paragraph.

49.  Tn or about and between February 2011 and Sept@nber 2014, both dates-
being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New ’X;ork and elsewhere, the
defendant MARTIN SHKRELI, together with others, did knowingly and willfully use and
employ one or more manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, contrary té Rule 10b-
5 of the Rules and Regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Corﬁmission, Title

17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (a) employing one or more devices,
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schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making one or more untree statements of matefial fact and
" omiﬁmg to state one or more materiel facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
tht of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engegiﬁg in one or
more acts, practices and courses of business Whieh would and did operate as a frand and deceit
upon one er miore investors or potential investors m MSMB Healthcare, in connection with the

purchase and sale of investments in MSMB Healthcare, directly and indirectly, by use of means
and instrumentalities of m‘cerstate commerce and the mails.

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78£f; Title 18, Um’ced Staftes

Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et s_e_cl.)

COUNT SEVEN
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud — Retrophin Scheme)

50.  The allegatiens contained in paxagraphs one threugh thirty-five are
reallecred and incorporated as though fully set forth in this paragraph

51. Imor about and between February 2011 and September 2014, both dates
being approgcimate and incluéive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the
defendants MARTIN SHKRELI and EVAN GREEBEL, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud Retrophin, and ’.[o obtain money
and property from Refrophjh by means of materially false and frauduient pretenses,
representations and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, to
transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign
commerce writings, signs, signals; pictures and sounds, contrary to Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1343. |

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et seq.)
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CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS ONE THROUGH SEVEN

52, The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants that, upon their
convictioﬂ of any of the offenses charged in Cdunts One through Seven, the government will
seek forfeiture, in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 ]..(a')(l)(C) and Title
28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), of any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is
derived from proceeds traceable to any such offenses.

53.  If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission »0f the defendants:' | |

a. cannot be located.upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
i Av | has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
- d. has been substantially élim‘inished' in value; or
- e, has been commingled With other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant fo Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), iQ
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seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property:
described in misiforfeiture allegation.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(2)(1)(C); Title 21, United States Code,

Section 853(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))

A TRUE BILL

| f\) /T/ ﬁ*
AL L€ SN

FOREPERSON

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
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